
Pensions Committee
Date: Monday, 25 January 2016
Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Pat Phillips
Tel: 0151 691 8488
e-mail: patphillips@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are asked to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non pecuniary interests, in connection with any item(s) 
on the agenda and state the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 16 
November, 2015.

3. LGPS UPDATE (Pages 9 - 16)

4. POOLING CONSULTATION (Pages 17 - 22)

5. PENSION FUND BUDGET (Pages 23 - 26)

6. MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2016 (Pages 27 - 30)

7. LGPS INVESTMENT REGULATIONS (Pages 31 - 36)

8. PROPERTY MANAGEMENT CONTRACT (Pages 37 - 40)

9. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY (Pages 41 - 56)

10. LGC INVESTMENT CONFERENCE (Pages 57 - 62)

11. ELECTED MEMBER EDUCATIONAL EVENT (Pages 63 - 66)



12. LOCAL INVESTMENT (Pages 67 - 70)

13. IMWP MINUTES 10/12/15 (Pages 71 - 74)

14. PROPERTY ARREARS (Pages 75 - 78)

15. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC 

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion.

16. IMWP EXEMPT MINUTES 10/12/15 (Pages 79 - 84)

17. PROPERTY ARREARS EXEMPT APPENDIX (Pages 85 - 88)

18. MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND - HEAD OF SERVICE PAY AND 
GRADING EXEMPT REPORT AND APPENDICES (Pages 89 - 98)

19. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 



PENSIONS COMMITTEE
Monday, 16 November 2015

Present: Councillor P Doughty (Chair)

Councillors AR McLachlan
G Davies
T Johnson
A Sykes (deputy for 
Cllr K Hodson)

G Watt
C Povall
P Cleary

Apologies Councillors AER Jones
B Kenny
J Fulham ( St Helens Council)
K Hodson
W Weightman (Knowsley Council)
P Lappin (Sefton Council)

36 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked if they had any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in 
connection with any application on the agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

Councillor Paul Doughty declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of his wife being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor George Davies declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of his wife being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor Geoffrey Watt declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of a relative being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

37 MINUTES 

Resolved – That the accuracy of the Minutes of the Pensions Committee held 
on 14 September, 2015 and 28 September, 2015 be approved as a correct 
record.

38 LGPS UPDATE 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources informed Members 
of the challenges faced by the Administration Section in issuing the 2014/15 Scheme 
year’s Annual Benefit Statements to all active members, in compliance with statutory 
time limits, as prescribed under section 14 of the Public Service Pension Act 2013 
and the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 



It also raised awareness of the Government’s response to the proposal to cap the 
cost of Public Sector Exit Payments at £95,000 and the September annual inflation 
figure as measured by the Consumer Price Index.

It was reported that 2Regulation 89 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 required 
administering authorities to issue an Annual Benefit Statement to all active, deferred 
and pension credit members by 31 August, following the end of the Scheme year

Members commented that given that the deadline to issue the statements had been 
brought forward under LGPS 2014 from 5 October to 31 August the Committee 
recognised and thanked the efforts of officers and IT staff.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

39 THE PENSIONS REGULATOR BREACHES POLICY 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources provided Members 
with an overview of the enhanced role of the Pensions Regulator and the 
requirement to report breaches of pension law as defined within section 13 (7) and 
70 (2) a of the Pension Act 2004 to the  Pension Regulator.

In April 2015, the Regulator had published its Code of Practice Number 14 (the 
Code) on the governance and administration of public service pension schemes to 
assist schemes with their administration and governance responsibilities and to 
establish a procedure in assessing breaches of material significance to the regulator. 
.
Merseyside Pension Fund’s proposed Breaches Policy and operational procedure for 
identifying breaches under both the jurisdiction of the Pension Regulator, and any 
non-compliance under the Local Government Pension Regulations, was attached as 
an appendix to the report. A decision tree based on the traffic light system of Red, 
Amber and Green was included within the policy to assess whether the breach was 
materially significant and the process for reporting the breach to the Regulator.

It was reported that under the Pension Act 2004, Wirral Council as administering 
authority of Merseyside Pension Fund, were under a legal obligation to consider 
making a report to the Regulator, if they become aware that there had been a breach 
of the legal requirements, relating to the administration and management of 
Merseyside Pension Fund. Failure to report a breach when required to do so was a 
civil offence which could result in a fine on the persons who failed to report.

The Chair commented that this item would be a regular item on future agendas. 
Yvonne Caddock, Principal Pension Officer, confirmed that there would be reports on 
any non-compliance and what correction had been taken.

Resolved – That 

1. the breaches policy be noted and adopted.

2. the appointment of the responsible officer be noted and approved.



3. that an EDN process be adopted to obtain agreement from Board 
Members when a breach should or should not be reported to the 
Regulator be noted and approved.

40 POOLING CONSULTATION 

Members considered a report of the Strategic Director Transformation and 
Resources that provided an update on the Fund’s actions in response to the 
government’s proposals for pooling of LGPS investments.

The report also sought Members’ approval for officers to continue to develop 
proposals for pooling in consultation with the Chair.

It was reported that in the Chancellors Budget on 8 July 2015. the  Budget Report 
(Red Book) contained a section announcing potentially far reaching changes to the 
degree and flexibility that would be given to Local Government Pension Funds 
(LGPF) in the future regarding local decision making and control in the management 
and allocation of LGPS pension fund investment assets. The statement had followed:

“Local Government Pension Scheme pooled investments: the government will work 
with Local Government Pension Scheme administering authorities to ensure that they 
pool investments to significantly reduce costs, while maintaining overall investment 
performance. The government will invite local authorities to come forward with their 
own proposals to meet common criteria for delivering savings. A consultation to be 
published later this year will set out those detailed criteria as well as backstop 
legislation which will ensure that those administering authorities that do not come 
forward with sufficiently ambitious proposals are required to pool investments.”

Members were informed that on 5 October 2015, in his speech at the party 
conference, the Chancellor had referred to the pooling of LGPS assets the intent of 
which had subsequently confirmed by DCLG in their letter of 7 October 2015 “the 
Chancellor announced that we are going to work with administering authorities to 
bring together investments into up to six pools spread across the country, creating 
conditions to save hundreds of millions in costs and invest billions in infrastructure in 
the regions”. The letter had continued “The Government remains keen to see 
authorities take the lead in identifying the best way to deliver savings and drive 
infrastructure investment and, as announced at the Budget, we will shortly be inviting 
administering authorities to bring forward proposals to deliver pooled investments 
that meet published criteria”.

It was further reported that to date, actions had included officer attendance at events, 
and conference calls with the Local Government Association (LGA), Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG), Scheme Advisory Board (SAB), and 
many other LGPS funds. The consultation paper, which would be published 
imminently, would provide a lot more detail and guidance than is present at the 
moment.

The November consultation paper would cover legislative changes circulated in draft 
to give the Secretary of State increased powers; proposed changes in the investment 
regulations; acceptable criteria for pooling; and back stop measures for recalcitrant 
schemes.



It was noted that the government’s proposals were intended to deliver substantial 
savings from the investment manager fee base within the 89 funds of the LGPS.  It 
was expected that the work being co-ordinated by Hymans Robertson would provide 
credible data which would inform the costs of the various options and potential 
savings.

The Chair noted the challenges of the timescales involved and on behalf of the 
Committee thanked Peter Wallach, Head of the Pension Fund, for the preparatory 
work being undertaken.

Resolved – That;

1. the report be noted and officers be authorised to continue developing 
pooling options.  

2. future papers for the Committee provide further information on likely 
costs/benefits and any material costs incurred in working up proposals 
and it be noted that any final decision will be subject to Committee 
approval.

41 INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 

The Pensions Committee considered a report of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) which had a statutory complaints procedure for dissatisfied 
members; the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP).

The report sought approval to amend the panel of Appointed Persons who could 
consider appeals at stage 1 and stage 2 of the IDRP process in respect of MPF.

Resolved – That the proposed changes to the panel of authorised officers to 
consider appeals under the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure be agreed.

42 GOVERNANCE POLICY 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources informed Members 
of a number of amendments required to the Fund’s Governance Policy that reflected 
changes to the national governance arrangements of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. It also documented a change of the responsible officer from the Director of 
Finance to the Head of Pension Fund within the scheme of delegation pursuant to 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972.

It was noted that provision of the Pensions Administration service by the Council in 
its role as Administering Authority of the Merseyside Pension Fund under Regulation 
2 and Schedule 3 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 was a statutory duty.

A copy of the Governance Report was attached as an appendix to the report.

Resolved – That the updated Governance Policy attached at Appendix 1 to the 
report be approved.

43 RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT AND CLIMATE RISK 



Further to Pensions Committee, 28 September, 2015, (Minute 35 refers) the 
Pensions Committee had discussed concerns relating to the risks to the investments 
of Merseyside Pension Fund presented by climate change. In particular, such risks 
as they related to the Fund’s fossil fuel-related investments. Members had noted the 
Fund’s activities in this area, carried out in accordance with its commitment to 
Responsible Investment, and requested a further update on the issues. A report of 
the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources outlined that Climate change 
had significant investment implications, which Merseyside Pension Fund addressed 
through its responsible investment strategy. Members were asked to reaffirm the 
commitment to responsible investment and to approve further investigation of 
alternative investment approaches to climate risk mitigation and adaptation. The 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), ‘Pension Fund Investments in Fossil 
Fuels’, 2015 and the Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC), 
‘Global Investor Statement on Climate Change’, September 2014 were attached as 
appendices to the report.

Peter Wallach, Head of the Pension Fund, responded to Members questions and 
indicated that a further report would be brought to the Pensions Committee meeting 
in March 2016.

Resolved – That;

1. the commitment to responsible investment be reaffirmed and further 
investigation of alternative investment approaches to climate risk mitigation 
and adaptation be approved.

2. a further report providing more information on the implications of 
alternative investment approaches to climate risk mitigation and adaptation be 
brought to the Pensions Committee in March 2016.

44 PROPERTY: APPOINTMENT OF STRATEGIC ADVISOR 

Members of the Pensions Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director 
Transformation and Resources that recommended the appointment of CBRE Capital 
Advisor Ltd (CBRE) in respect of the mandate as Strategic Property Advisor to 
Merseyside Pension Fund. The mandate was for an initial term of four years with the 
option of a further three, two year extensions.

The appendix to the report contained exempt information. This was by virtue of 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).

Resolved – That the appointment of CBRE in respect of Strategic Advisor for a 
period of four years with the option to extend for a further six years, subject to 
satisfactory biennial reviews be approved.

45 MONITORING - TRAINING, GIFTS & HOSPITALITY RETURNS 

A report of the Strategic Director provided Members with a summary of 
monitoring/training events attended by officers of the Fund and details of gifts and 
hospitality received over the past 12 months.



In November 2012, the Committee had approved new guidance in relation to the 
declaration of gifts and hospitality received by officers and those members of 
Committee that were not otherwise subject to personal conduct arrangements.

The guidance was reflected by Wirral in its overall governance arrangements and 
was set out in the Fund’s Compliance Manual last approved March 2014, reflecting 
the practicalities of the Pension Fund’s business needs.

Appendix 1 of the report provided a schedule of declarations from October 2014 to 
September 2015 and Appendix 2 of the report provided a schedule of CPD/Training 
for the same period.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

46 AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES 

Members of the Pensions Committee considered a report that set out proposed 
changes to authorised signatories at Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) following the 
retirement of the Head of Business Processes.

The report described the different requirements for various institutions and functions, 
including the banks, custodian, and overseas pensions payment agent, as well as the 
granting of power of attorney where appropriate.

The report also formed a part of the Fund’s scheme of delegation and set out the 
management and authorisation arrangements, for the avoidance of doubt, by 
organisations undertaking due diligence on MPF as an investee company or as a 
financial services provider, or for purposes of overseas jurisdiction.

Resolved – That;

1. the arrangements set out in section 2 of the report in relation to the 
internal control arrangements at Merseyside Pension Fund be approved.

2. the officers designated in section 2 of the report be approved as 
authorised signatories for Merseyside Pensions Fund.

47 IMWP MINUTES 

A report of the Strategic Director provided Members with the minutes of the 
Investment Monitoring Working Party (IMWP) held on 17 September 2015 and 8 
October 2015.

The appendices to the report, the minutes of the IMWP on 17 September 2015 and 8 
October 2015, contained exempt information. This was by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information).

Resolved – That the minutes of the Investment Monitoring Working Party 
(IMWP) held on 17 September 2015 and 8 October 2015 be approved.



48 EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

Resolved – That in accordance with section 100 (A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following items of business, on the grounds that it involved the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined by relevant paragraphs of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act. The public interest test had been 
applied and favoured exclusion.

49 PROPERTY : APPOINTMENT OF STRATEGIC ADVISOR 

The appendix to the report on Property: Appointment of Strategic Advisor was 
exempt by virtue of paragraph 3.

50 IMWP MINUTES EXEMPT APPENDICES 

The appendices to the report on IMWP Minutes were exempt by virtue of paragraph 
3.





WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSION COMMITTEE

25 JANUARY 2016
SUBJECT: LGPS UPDATE

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF 
TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report raises awareness of the measures directly affecting pensions 

announced in the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement of 25 November 2015 and 
the new ‘Contracted–Out Pension Equivalent’ amount to be included within 
State Pension Statements.

1.2 It also provides a position statement on a number of statutory instruments and 
the preparatory discussions taking place with the Merseyside Directors of 
Finance in respect of the 2016 Triennial Valuation.

 
2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 In addition to the publication of the DCLG’s consultation on the investment 
regulations and guidance setting the high level criteria for pooling investments 
in the LGPS, covered later on the committee agenda, a number of other items 
relating to pensions were confirmed by the Chancellor in his Autumn 
Statement as follows:

a) The Government intends to respond to last year’s consultation on tax 
relief undertaken at the 2016 Budget.

Industry commentators believe that the move to simplify the auto-
enrolment process and to save £840 million in tax relief by delaying the 
next two increases of minimum contribution levels for automatic-enrolment 
schemes in line with tax years, (with the first increase now being required 
in April 2018 instead of October 2017), is a hint of more far-reaching 
changes to tax relief in the 2016 Budget. 



b) The Government plan to consult on further cross–public sector action on 
exit payment terms, to reduce the costs of redundancy pay outs and 
ensure greater consistency between workforces. Whilst lacking detail, it is 
possible this may have further impact on the LGPS. Fund officers will 
keep Members updated on future developments.

c) The basic state pension for those who have reached SPA prior to April 
2016 will be going up by £3.35 to £119.30. The triple lock will also be 
retained which means that the state pension rises every year by the 
highest of price inflation, earnings growth or 2.5%

The starting rate of the new single -tier state pension in April 2016 will be 
£155.65, although this is the full-rate headline figure: in the next twenty 
years some people will get more, some people will get less. 

Contracted–Out Pension Equivalent (COPE) 

2.2 HMRC has announced that from November 2015, a Contracted–Out Pension 
Equivalent amount will be included within State Pension Statements.

2.3 The objective is to explain why individuals may not be entitled to the full 
amount of the new State Pension if they have been contracted out of the 
additional State Pension (S2P or SERPS) and paid lower National Insurance 
contributions prior to April 2016. 

As the LGPS is a contracted-out scheme, the amount of State Pension that 
members will receive will be lower than that received by people with similar 
earnings who were not contracted-out.

2.4 The pension they get from the LGPS will include an amount that, in most 
cases, will be at least equivalent to the additional State Pension they would 
have got if they hadn’t been contracted–out. 

This is known as the COPE amount and in most cases the LGPS element will 
exceed the COPE amount.

Public Sector Exit Payment Cap

2.5 Members were apprised of the Government’s plans to proceed with the 
proposals to introduce an exit cap within Public Sector Pension Schemes as 
part of the Enterprise Bill at its last meeting (minute 38 refers). 



2.6  The bill to introduce a cap of £95,000 on the total value of exit payments is 
making its way through Parliament, and the LGA continues to lobby the 
Government on the operation of the cap, its timescales for implementation 
and the need for transitional measures.

2.7 Much of the detail of how the cap will work in practice remains to be 
confirmed. The Government published draft Public Sector Exit Payment Cap 
Regulations 2016 in early November and the LGA are seeking clarification on 
whether:

 the cap will apply to all strain costs (e.g  flexible retirement) or only those 
relating to an exit from a public sector employment,

 will the cost be calculated on a central set of assumptions, 

 85 year rule protections and/or payment of pension on compassionate 
grounds will be included and 

 what order the payments have to be set against the cap.

2.8 The latest bill highlights that changes to the regulations of relevant public 
sector schemes (including the LGPS) will be necessary to implement the cap.

2.9 To date there has been no formal announcement on the timescale to 
introduce the bill; however, the documented debate on the bill does include 
reference to the cap being implemented in Summer 2016. This may provide 
slight relief to authorities concerned about upcoming Voluntary Early 
Retirement exercises.  

2.10 There will be a discretion available to relax the cap in exceptional 
circumstances, both for individuals and groups of individuals, subject to full 
council approval. The Government will provide guidance for employers on the 
use of power to relax the restrictions imposed by the cap, and what would 
constitute exceptional circumstances. 

Finance (no. 2) Act 2015

2.11 The Finance (no.2) Act 2015 received Royal Assent on 18 November. This 
incorporates into legislation the changes announced in the Summer 2015 
budget, specifically, the alignment of all pension input periods to the tax year 
and the new tapered annual allowance for high earners from 2016/17.

2.12 It is noteworthy that the Act does not cover the announced reduction in the 
lifetime allowance to £1 million from April 2016. This will be included in the 
Finance Bill 2016, alongside details of the protections available to secure 
pension income at the current available allowance of £1.25 million.



2016 Triennial Valuation

2.13 As a result of known budgetary constraints on employers and difficult financial 
conditions pointing to the likelihood of employer contribution increases, Fund 
Officers have commenced planning for the 2016 valuation. 

To manage employer expectation around any potential easements in the 
management of pension liabilities and the pace of funding, Officers and the 
Actuary met with the Merseyside Finance Director Group on 17 November to 
discuss the structure and approach for setting the actuarial assumptions to 
determine the funding position and employer contribution rates.  

2.14 The key focus for the valuation is the affordability of contributions and the 
possibility to revise the derivation of assumptions to deliver a clearer 
alignment between the investment and funding strategy. The Fund is acutely 
aware of the financial pressures and will work with employers to arrive at an 
appropriate contribution schedule within acceptable solvency parameters. 

This work will also take account of the oversight from the Scheme Advisory 
Board via the national Key Performance Indicators in respect of funding and 
from GAD under section 13 of the Public Service Pension Act.

2.15 The aforementioned primary legislation requires GAD to produce a report 
indicating how solvency and long term cost efficiency should be defined and 
measured. It has been mooted that there is an expectation that employers 
cannot knowingly make a decision on funding which will push further costs on 
future tax payers.

2.16 Following the publication of the 2016 valuation reports, GAD will produce a 
report on whether actuarial valuations conform to the new requirements and 
are consistent with other LGPS fund valuations.

2.17 A request has been forwarded to employers seeking all outstanding member 
documentation to enable the actuary to base his liability calculations on 
accurate data when setting relevant contribution schedules     

  



3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

3.1 The potential reforms to pension contribution tax relief, to be announced in the 
2016 Budget may lead to further reductions of a member’s net pay, in addition 
to the reductions already resulting from the ending of contracting-out.

These reductions present a significant risk of mass member opt-outs from the 
LGPS, placing further cash flow pressures on the scheme. 

3.2  Cash flow pressures will affect future investment strategies with a move away 
from return seeking into defensive assets, culminating in increased employer 
contributions, further pressures on employer budgets and a direct adverse 
impact on local taxpayers.

  
4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

4.1 Not relevant for this report 

5.0 CONSULTATION 

5.1 Not relevant for this report

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 

6.1 None associated with the subject matter.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1 There are none arising from this report

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 

8.1 The inclusion of the COPE amount on State Pension statements will add 
further complexity for members in evaluating their retirement income. It is 
likely to cause confusion in understanding that the value is ultimately an 
underpin value and not a new benefit.

The purpose of these forecast statements is to establish the new state 
pension entitlement, but the statements will ultimately give rise to queries for 
all providers of pension arrangements.

8.2  The introduction of the exit cap could potentially inhibit local authority 
workforce planning and an increase, within the sector, of compulsory 
redundancies as opposed to voluntary redundancy exercises.



8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising from this report

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality?

No, because Department of Communities and Local Government undertake 
equality impact assessments with regard to the statutory reform of the LGPS.

10.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are none arising from this report

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1 There are none arising from this report

12.0 RECOMMENDATION

13.1 That members note the report.

13.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1 There is a requirement for Members of the Pension Committee to be kept up 
to date with legislative developments as part of their decision making role. 

REPORT Yvonne Caddock
AUTHOR Principle Pension Officer

Telephone (0151) 242 1333
Email yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date
The LGPS update is a standing item on the 
Pensions Committee agenda.







WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: LGPS – INVESTMENT REFORM CRITERIA 
AND GUIDANCE  

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR TRANSFORMATION 

& RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members with details of the criteria by which the Government will 

assess proposals by administering authorities of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme to pool investments to deliver significantly reduced costs while maintaining 
overall investment performance.

1.2 This report also seeks Members’ approval for officers to continue to develop proposals 
for pooling in consultation with the Chair and for an initial response to be issued by 19 
February 2016.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 A report to November’s Pensions Committee set out the background to the 

Government’s proposals for pooling of LGPS investments to create up to six British 
Wealth Funds, each with at least £25bn of assets.

 
2.2 On 25 November, the consultation documents were issued to coincide with the 

Chancellor’s Comprehensive Spending Review statement.   The following four principal 
criteria set out how administering authorities can deliver against the government’s 
expectations of pooling assets.

2.3 Asset pool(s) that achieve the benefits of scale:  The 90 administering authorities in 
England and Wales should collaborate to establish, and invest through asset pools, 
each with at least £25bn of Scheme assets. The proposals should describe these pools, 
explain how each administering authority’s assets will be allocated among the pools, 
describe the scale benefits that these arrangements are expected to deliver and explain 
how those benefits will be realised, measured and reported. Authorities should explain: 

• The size of their pool(s) once fully operational. 
• In keeping with the supporting guidance, any assets they propose to hold outside 

the pool(s), and the rationale for doing so. 
• The type of pool(s) they are participating in, including the legal structure if relevant. 
• How the pool(s) will operate, the work to be carried out internally and services to 



be hired from outside. 
• The timetable for establishing the pool(s) and moving their assets into the pool(s). 

Authorities should explain how they will transparently report progress against that 
timetable. 

2.4 Strong governance and decision making: The proposed governance structure for the 
pools should: 

I. At the local level, provide authorities with assurance that their investments are 
being managed appropriately by the pool, in line with their stated investment 
strategy and in the long-term interests of their members; 

II. At the pool level, ensure that risk is adequately assessed and managed, 
investment implementation decisions are made with a long-term view, and a 
culture of continuous improvement is adopted. 

Authorities should also revisit their internal processes to ensure efficient and effective 
decision making and risk management, while maintaining appropriate democratic 
accountability. Authorities should explain: 

• The governance structure for their pool(s), including the accountability between the 
pool(s) and elected councillors, and how external scrutiny will be used. 

• The mechanisms by which the authority can hold the pool(s) to account and 
secure assurance that their investment strategy is being implemented effectively 
and their investments are being well managed. 

• Decision making procedures at all stages of investment, and the rationale 
underpinning this. 

• The shared objectives for the pool(s), and any policies that are to be agreed 
between participants. 

• The resources allocated to the running of the pool(s), including the governance 
budget, the number of staff needed and the skills and expertise required. 

• How any environmental, social and corporate governance policies will be handled 
by the pool(s). 

• How the authorities will act as responsible, long term investors through the pool(s), 
including how the pool(s) will determine and enact stewardship responsibilities. 

• How the net performance of each asset class will be reported publically by the 
pool, to encourage the sharing of data and best practice. 

• The extent to which benchmarking is used by the authority to assess their own 
governance and performance and that of the pool(s), for example by undertaking 
the Scheme Advisory Board’s key performance indicator assessment. 

2.5 Reduced costs and excellent value for money: In addition to the fees paid for 
investment, there are further hidden costs that are difficult to ascertain and so are rarely 
reported in most pension fund accounts. To identify savings, authorities are expected to 
take the lead in this area and report the costs they incur more transparently. Proposals 
should explain how the pool(s) will deliver substantial savings in investment fees, both 
in the near term and over the next 15 years, while at least maintaining overall 
investment performance. 

Active fund management should only be used where it can be shown to deliver value for 
money, and authorities should report how fees and net performance in each listed asset 



class compare to a passive index. In addition authorities should consider setting targets 
for active managers which are focused on achieving risk-adjusted returns over an 
appropriate long term time period, rather than solely focusing on short term 
performance comparisons. 

• A fully transparent assessment of investment costs and fees as at 31 March 2013. 
• A fully transparent assessment of current investment costs and fees, prepared on 

the same basis as 2013 for comparison. 
• A detailed estimate of savings over the next 15 years. 
• A detailed estimate of implementation costs and when they will arise, including 

transition costs as assets are migrated into the pool(s), and an explanation of how 
these costs will be met. 

• A proposal for reporting transparently against their forecast transition costs and 
savings, as well as how they will report fees and net performance. 

2.6 An improved capacity to invest in infrastructure: Only a very small proportion of 
Local Government Pension Scheme assets are currently invested in infrastructure; 
pooling of assets may facilitate greater investment in this area. Proposals should 
explain how infrastructure will feature in authorities’ investment strategies and how the 
pooling arrangements can improve the capacity and capability to invest in this asset 
class. Authorities should explain: 

• The proportion of their fund currently allocated to infrastructure, both directly and 
through funds, or “fund of funds”. 

• How they might develop or acquire the capacity and capability to assess 
infrastructure projects, and reduce costs by managing any subsequent 
investments directly through the pool(s), rather than existing fund, or “fund of 
funds” arrangements. 

• The proportion of their fund they intend to invest in infrastructure, and their 
ambition in this area going forward, as well as how they have arrived at that 
amount. 

2.7 Authorities are asked to submit their initial proposals to the Government by 19 February 
2016. Submissions should include a commitment to pooling and a description of their 
progress towards formalising their arrangements with other authorities. Authorities can 
choose whether to make individual or joint submissions, or both, at this first stage. 

2.8 Refined and completed submissions are expected by 15 July 2016, which fully address 
the criteria in this document, and provide any further information that would be helpful in 
evaluating the proposals. At this second stage, the submissions should comprise: 

• for each pool, a joint proposal from participating authorities setting out the pooling 
arrangement in detail. For example, this may cover the governance structures, 
decision-making processes and implementation timetable; and 

• for each authority, an individual return detailing the authority’s commitment to, and 
expectations of, the pool(s). This should include their profile of costs and savings, 
the transition profile for their assets, and the rationale for any assets they intend to 
hold outside of the pools in the long term. 

2.8 Once submitted, the Government will assess the final proposals against the criteria. A 
brief report will be provided in response, setting out the extent to which the criteria have 



been met and highlighting any aspects of the guidance that the Government believes 
have not been adequately addressed. In the first instance, the Government will work 
with authorities who do not develop sufficiently ambitious proposals to help them deliver 
a more cost effective approach to investment that draws on the benefits of scale. Where 
this is not possible, the Government will consider how else it can drive value for money 
for taxpayers, including through the use of the “backstop” legislation, should this be in 
place following the outcome of the consultation. 

2.9   Merseyside Pension Fund
Members will be aware that Merseyside Pension Fund has worked closely with a    
number of other funds to collaborate in producing a report under the banner of Project 
POOL which had three goals:

1.  to produce an evidence based and objective analysis of pooling options 
2.  to enable LGPS stakeholders to gather round one or a small number of options 

which satisfy the Government’s criteria 
3.  to form a basis of discussion between the LGPS and Government on the best way 

forward 

The report is expected to be issued shortly and the analysis contained therein will be 
useful in assessing likely cost savings.    

3.0   The Fund has also had a number of meetings with ‘Northern Funds’ to discuss options  
for pooling.  At the time of writing, MPF has agreed in principle to work with two other 
funds to develop a proposal to pool investment management, for submission to 
government in February.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 It is important that appropriate governance arrangements are put in place to ensure that 

the pooling arrangements work well both now and in the future. 

3.2 As set out in the Project POOL report, the costs and resource required to deliver this 
change programme should not be under-estimated, particularly in the context of 
continuing budgetary pressures and severe internal resource constraints within local 
authorities.  Also, the risks of a transition of assets on the scale required are 
considerable. Strong project management and the use of the most skilled and 
experienced transition managers will be critical to managing these risks.

3.3 The tight timescales for responding to the consultation are not giving much time for data 
to be collected and assessed appropriately and there is a risk that decisions are ill-
considered or that projected cost savings are unrealistic.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 All appropriate options remain under consideration.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 The Chair of the Pensions Committee has been consulted and has been involved in 

several meetings including with DCLG and other LGPS funds..



6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The government’s proposals are intended to deliver substantial savings from the 

investment manager fee base within the 89 funds of the LGPS.  However, as set out in 
the Project POOL report, the costs and resource required to deliver this change 
programme should not be under-estimated.  As one of the funds participating in the 
Project POOL report, a contribution of £10,000 was made towards the cost of producing 
the report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental issues 

arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members note the report and authorise officers to continue developing pooling 

options.  Future papers for the Committee will provide further information on likely 
costs/benefits and any material costs incurred in working up proposals.  Any final 
decision will be subject to Committee approval. 

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 In view of the tight timescales and requirement for detailed proposals to be developed, it 

is important that work continues in parallel with reports to this Committee.

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
HEAD OF PENSION FUND
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES  None

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
Local Government Pension Scheme: Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Pension Committee

Pension Committee

November 2015

September 2015



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND BUDGET 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2016/17

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

KEY DECISION NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Members approve the budget for 

the financial year 2016/17.

1.2 The headline figures are that during the financial year 2016/17, we are 
estimating that MPF will pay £272m in pensions and receive £196m in 
contributions from employers and employees. The Fund has a value of £6.5bn 
at 30 September 2015. The proposed administration costs of £19.1m including 
£12.6m of investment management charges to external managers represent a 
cost of £148.59 per member of the scheme. Taken separately the external 
investment management costs are approximately £98.33 per member.

1.3  The estimated contributions for 2016/17 are again lower than reported in 
previous years due to a number of employers of the Fund opting to pay their 3 
year deficit calculated by the actuary as part of the 31 March 2013 triennial 
valuation as a one off payment.  This has resulted in the Fund receiving 
additional contributions of £165m during 2014/15, with the subsequent 2 years 
contributions being lower to account for the upfront payments.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The method used to compile estimates of expenditure for 2016/17 is as follows:

Staffing Current Structure to be fully staffed 
throughout year.

Investment management Fees Estimate based on normal market 
conditions.

Premises Agreed as a notional charge based 
on market rates (MPF owns building).

Transport, Conferences and 
Subsistence

Estimated requirements for current 
year.

Services and Supplies Contracts where usage and cost is 
fixed, plus estimate for variable 
elements.



Inflation adjustments CPI -0.1% as at September 2015 and 
therefore assumed zero.

Investment Performance 4% bonds; 8% equities; 50% of 
performance targets met for active 
management.

2.2 This report includes a predicted out-turn for 2015/16. However, due to the 
volatility in financial markets and delays in billing from certain third party 
suppliers it is not possible to predict the outturn with complete accuracy. 
Therefore some estimates have been used, and it is proposed to report on 
outturn at the June meeting of Pensions Committee. At present, the outturn is 
lower than predicted largely due to investment market volatility.

2.3 The Fund’s major expenditure is on investment management fees. These are 
mostly charged on an ad-valorem basis with, on some occasions, a 
performance fee. This means that when the Fund’s investments rise in value 
and/or outperform benchmarks, the fees can rise substantially. Therefore, when 
this expenditure rises there is a benefit to the Fund in terms of capital 
appreciation that far exceeds the increase in fees paid. For 2015/16 the outturn 
is expected to be lower than the estimate made last year due to market volatility 
and efficiencies gained through renegotiated fees.

2.4 The second highest expenditure is on staffing.  The outturn for 2015/16 will be 
underspent due to vacancies, growth in administration yet to be implemented 
and reduced salary recharges.  The budget for 2016/17 reflects increased 
national insurance contributions, the carried forward growth in administration 
and £100,000 of growth in the investments team.

2.5 The predicted 2015/16 outturn for supplies is lower than estimated largely due 
to computer development and hardware and delays in planned IT projects 
These budgets have been carried forward to the 2016/17, with updated costs 
reflected, along with additional IT projects for 2016/17, including system 
upgrades.

2.6 Investment consultancy and actuarial fees rise in 2016/17 due to the triennial 
actuarial valuation and resulting review of investment strategy.

2.7 For departmental & central support charges, at present the estimates have 
been left the same as last year, the figure reported to Committee last year was 
£500,600.  However the back office functions of Wirral Council, the 
administering authority are subject to significant review, with a likely outcome of 
improved efficiencies. Officers at the Fund will continue to negotiate service 
level agreements with Wirral support service functions. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The Fund has recently reviewed its Risk Register and identified key risks and 

mitigating controls for these risks. A key feature of the controls is having 
appropriate resources available to administer the fund adequately and to 
manage investments. This budget provides adequate resources for these two 
core functions.



4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 The majority of the Pension Fund budget is taken up by investment 

management costs and staffing. The investment management arrangements 
have recently been subject to review with further reviews being undertaken on 
an on-going basis. As described earlier, the administering authority is also 
undertaking a review of its back office services with an aim of reducing costs 
which should result in a decrease in charges to the Fund. For all other 
expenditure there has been a careful review process culminating in a planning 
meeting at which the Head of Service approved the proposals for discretionary 
expenditure in this report.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Not relevant for this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The costs of the Pension Fund are charged directly to the Pension Fund and 

are then ultimately covered by investment income and employee and employer 
contributions, the full costs are estimated to be £148.59 per member (including 
active contributors, deferred and pensioners). The costs per member at 
Merseyside Pension Fund are competitive with other pension funds of similar 
size in both the public and private sector particularly when analysed net of 
investment performance. Any staffing changes made from current structure will 
be subsequently reported to Pensions Committee.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.



12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 Members approve the budget for 2016/17. (Subject to review of charges from 

the administering authority for support services and changes in recharges for 
pension deficit recovery)

13.2  That a further report on the outturn for 2015/16 with finalised estimates in 
particular for salary overheads and departmental & central support charges 
for 2016/17 be presented to Pensions Committee Members in June.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 The approval of the budget for Merseyside Pension Fund by Pensions 

Committee forms part of the governance arrangements of Merseyside Pension 
Fund.

REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith
Group Accountant
telephone (0151) 2421312
email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
The budget for 2016/17 is attached as appendix 1 to this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
Internal working papers were used in the production of this report.

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee:

Pension Fund Budget
Pension Fund Budget
Pension Fund Budget
Pension Fund Budget
Pension Fund Budget

22 June 2015
19 January 2015
1 July 2014
20 January 2014
24 June 2013



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: MEMBERS’ DEVELOPMENT 2016

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an outline of the 

proposed programme for member development in 2016.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 It is a regulatory requirement for LGPS funds to outline in their Statement of 

Investment Principles the extent of their compliance with the 2008 Myners 
Principles and associated guidance. Myners emphasises the importance, for 
effective governance of pension funds, of adequate training for those acting in a 
trustee-like role.

2.2 The Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles states that “an ongoing training 
programme (updated annually) for Committee Members and Fund officers [is 
provided] to ensure that decision-making is on an informed basis.

2.3 The CIPFA Pensions Panel has developed a technical knowledge and skills 
framework for the LGPS. This framework has been adopted by Pensions 
Committee as demonstrating best practice and representing the appropriate 
mix of knowledge and skills necessary to discharge the governance role. It also 
assists Members in planning their training and development needs. 

2.4 Two of the six IMWP meetings contain a formal training session covering 
relevant/topical subject matter. Additionally, presentations by external 
professional organisations and the deliberative nature of all the working parties 
mean that attendance is regarded as an important element of Member 
development. 

2.5 The outline training programme is attached as an appendix to this report. It is 
comprised of a series of internal and external training events throughout the 
year. Individual papers may be brought to consider and approve attendance at 



each event and, if officers become aware of other appropriate events, 
Committee will be informed.

2.6 The Local Government Pensions Committee-organised ‘Fundamentals’ course 
is considered essential for all members to complete. It provides a 
comprehensive overview of the LGPS and the ‘trustee’ role carried out by those 
serving on a pension committee/panel. The course takes place over three days 
(during October – December), at multiple dates and in multiple locations 
(Cardiff, Leeds & London). While considered essential for new members, longer 
serving members of Pensions Committee may also benefit from refresher 
training.

2.7 It is a statutory requirement that the Fund’s annual report includes detailed 
information on training events offered and attended by elected members.  A 
register of Members’ attendance at training and development events is kept 
and reviewed annually by the Governance & Risk Working Party.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Failure to maintain an appropriate level of knowledge and skills, commensurate 

with that thought appropriate for those acting in a trustee-like role in the LGPS, 
may impair effective decision-making. Suitable and effective training and 
development activity should assist in mitigating this risk. 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 Based on an ongoing assessment of training needs, there may be the option of 

reverting to stand-alone training and development events. 

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report. There 

are no implications for partner organisations arising from this report. 

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1 None
 
7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 Provision for Member training and development is included in the Fund’s 

annual operating budget.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.



10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are none arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members note and approve the proposed training and development plan 

for 2016.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 The requirement for good governance in the LGPS to be underpinned by 

informed decision-making, combined with the increasing complexity of financial 
markets and investment strategies, makes ongoing training and development 
an essential element of Members’ responsibilities.

REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Wallach
Head of Merseyside Pension Fund
telephone (0151) 242 1309
email peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date
Pensions Committee
Pensions Committee
Pensions Committee

January 2015
January 2014
January 2013

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

MONTH (2016) EVENT REPRESENTATION*

17 February 330 Consulting LGPS seminar, 

Houses of Parliament

Party Spokespersons

3 - 4 March LGC Investment Summit, 

Chester

All Members

9 - 11 March PLSA Investment Conference, 

Edinburgh

Chair

 March IMWP – Member development 

session

All Members

16 - 18 May NAPF Local Authority 

Conference, Cotswolds

Party Spokespersons

June LGPC Annual Trustee 

Conference

All Members

June PIRC Corporate Governance 

Conference

Chair

July CIPFA Conference Chair

September LGC Investment Seminar, Celtic 

Manor

Party Spokespersons

October 330 Consulting LGPS seminar, Party Spokespersons

October IMWP – Member development 

session

All Members

2 November PLSA Local Authority Forum, 

London

Chair

November Annual Employers Conference, 

Aintree

All Members

October – December Fundamentals training days; 

multiple dates & locations

All Members

December LAPFF Annual Conference, 

Bournemouth

Party Spokespersons

*Reflects previous attendance



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: LGPS – INVESTMENT REGULATIONS  

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR TRANSFORMATION 

& RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members with details of a consultation on proposals to revoke and 

replace the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009 and seeks approval for the response attached.  Responses 
are required by 19 February 2016.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The proposals in this consultation are the culmination of work looking into Local 

Government Pension Scheme investments that began in early 2013. It has been 
developed in response to the May 2014 consultation, Opportunities for collaboration, 
cost savings and efficiencies. 

2.2 Some respondents to the May 2014 consultation also suggested that amendments were 
required to the investment regulations in order to facilitate greater investment in pooled 
vehicles. In addition, prior to that consultation, authorities and the fund management 
industry had called for wider reform.  A small working group was established to look at 
whether the approach to risk management and diversification in the existing regulations 
was still appropriate. They recommended moving towards the “prudential person” 
approach that governs trust based pension schemes. The group also sought clarity as 
to whether certain types of investment were possible, such as the use of derivatives in 
risk management.

The consultation on the Investment Regulations is being undertaken in parallel with the 
consultation on pooling of LGPS assets.

Response to the Law Commission’s Review of Fiduciary Duty

2.3 The Kay Review on Fiduciary Duty published its final report in July 2012. In addition to 
making a number of recommendations to address the excessive focus on short-term 
performance in equity investment markets, it recommended that the Government ask 
the Law Commission to review the fiduciary duties of investment intermediaries amid 



concerns that these common law duties were being interpreted by some pension 
schemes as a requirement to focus solely on short-term financial returns.

2.4 In their report, published in July 2014, the Law Commission called on the Department to 
review:

• Whether the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009 should transpose article 18(1) of the Institutions for 
Occupational Retirement Provision (IORP) Directive, and

• Those aspects of Regulation 9 of the 2009 Regulations which require investment 
managers to be appointed on a short-term basis and reviewed every three 
months.

2.5 These recommendations were supported by the Government’s progress report on the 
implementation of the Kay Review published in October 2014 by the Department for 
Business Innovation and Skills.

2.6 Article 18(1) of the IORP Directive requires assets to be invested in the best interests of 
members and beneficiaries and, in the event of a conflict of interest, in the sole interests 
of members and beneficiaries.

2.7 Regulation 4 of The Occupational Pension Schemes (Investment) Regulations 2005 (SI 
2005 No 3378) transposed Article 18(1):

“4. (1) The trustees of a trust scheme must exercise their powers of investment, and any 
fund manager to whom any discretion has been delegated under section 34 of the 1995 
Act (power of investment and delegation) must exercise the discretion, in accordance 
with the following provisions of this regulation

(2) The assets must be invested:
(a) In the best interests of members and beneficiaries; and
(b) In the case of a potential conflict of interest, in the sole interest of members and 

beneficiaries.”

2.8 The Local Government Pension Scheme is a statutory scheme made under section 1 of 
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and previously under The Superannuation Act 
1972. It is not subject to trust law and those responsible for making investment 
decisions in the Scheme are not therefore required to comply with Regulation 4 of the 
2005 Regulations.

2.9 In a circular issued by the then Department of the Environment in 1983 (No 24), the 
Secretary of State took the view that administering authorities should pay due regard to 
the principle contained in the case of Roberts v Hopwood [1925] A.C. 578 p. 595:

“A body charged with the administration for definite purposes of funds contributed in 
whole or in part by persons other than members of that body owes, in my view, a duty to 
those latter persons to conduct that administration in a fairly business-like manner with 
reasonable care, skill and caution, and with a due and alert regard to the interest of 
those contributors who are not members of the body. Towards these latter persons, the 
body stands somewhat in the position of trustees or managers of the property of 
others.”



2.10 Those in local government responsible for making investment decisions must also act in 
accordance with ordinary public law principles, in particular, the ordinary public law 
principles of reasonableness. They risk challenge if a decision they make is so 
unreasonable that no reasonable person acting reasonably could have made it.

2.11 Having considered fully the recommendation made by the Kay Review and supported 
by both the Law Commission and the Government, Ministers are satisfied that the 
Scheme is consistent with the national legislative framework governing the duties 
placed on those responsible for making investment decisions. The position at common 
law

2.12 Ministers do, however, propose to remove the requirement for the performance of 
investment managers to be reviewed once every three months from the regulations.

2.13 In developing these draft regulations, the Government has sought, where appropriate, 
to deregulate and simplify the regulations that have governed the management and 
investment of funds since 2009. Some of the existing provisions have not been carried 
forward into the draft 2016 Regulations in the expectation that they would be effectively 
maintained by general law provisions and so specific regulation is no longer needed. 
For example, those making investment decisions are still required to act prudently, and 
there remains a statutory requirement to take and act on proper advice.

2.14 As part of this deregulation, the draft regulations also propose to remove the existing 
schedule of limitations on investments. Instead authorities will be expected to take a 
prudential approach, demonstrating that they have given consideration to the suitability 
of different types of investment, have ensured an appropriately diverse portfolio of 
assets and have ensured an appropriate approach to managing risk.

2.15 Key to this will be the investment strategy statement, which authorities will be required 
to prepare, having taken proper advice, and publish. The statement must cover:

• A requirement to use a wide variety of investments.
• The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of 

investments.
• The authority’s approach to risk, including how it will be measured and managed.
• The authority’s approach to collaborative investment, including the use of collective 

investment vehicles and shared services.
• The authority’s environmental, social and corporate governance policy.
• The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights, including voting rights, attached to its 

investments.

Transitional arrangements

2.16 Draft regulation seven proposes to require authorities to publish an investment strategy 
statement no later than six months after the regulations come into force (this is currently 
drafted as 1 October 2016, in case the draft regulations come into effect on 1 April 
2016). However, the draft regulations would also revoke the existing 2009 Regulations 
when they come into effect. Transitional arrangements are therefore required to ensure 



that an authority’s investments and investment strategy are regulated between the draft 
regulations coming into effect and the publication of an authority’s new investment 
strategy statement. The transitional arrangements proposed in draft regulation 12 would 
mean that the following regulations in the 2009 Regulations would remain in place until 
the authority publishes an investment strategy or six months lapses from the date that 
the regulations come into effect:

• 11 (investment policy and investment of pension fund money)
• 14 (restrictions on investments)
• 15 (requirements for increased limits)
• Schedule 1 (table of limits on investments)

2.17 It is not proposed to carry forward the existing requirement under regulation 12 of the 
2009 Regulations to maintain a Statement of Investment Principles. However, the main 
elements, such as risk, diversification, corporate governance and suitability, will instead 
be carried forward as part of the reporting requirements of the new investment strategy 
statement.

Non-financial factors

2.18 The Secretary of State has made clear that using pensions and procurement policies to 
pursue boycotts, divestments and sanctions against foreign nations and the UK defence 
industry are inappropriate, other than where formal legal sanctions, embargoes and 
restrictions have been put in place by the Government. 

The draft replacement Regulations include provision for administering authorities to 
publish their policies on the extent to which environmental, social and corporate 
governance matters are taken into account in the selection, retention and realisation of 
investments. Guidance on how these policies should reflect foreign policy and related 
issues will be published ahead of the new Regulations coming into force.

2.19 Questions from DCLG:

Does the proposed deregulation achieve the intended policy aim of removing any 
unnecessary regulation while still ensuring that authorities’ investments are made 
prudently and having taken advice?

Are there any specific issues that should be reinstated? Please explain why.

Is six months the appropriate period for the transitional arrangements to remain in 
place?

Should the regulation be explicit that derivatives should only be used as a risk 
management tool? Are there any other circumstances in which the use of derivatives 
would be appropriate?

Introducing a safeguard: Secretary of State power of intervention

2.20 The first part of this consultation lifts some of the existing restrictions on administering   
authorities’ investments in order to make it easier for them to pool their investments and 
access the benefits of scale. To ensure that this new flexibility is used appropriately, the 
consultation also proposes to introduce a power to intervene in the investment function 



of an administering authority if the Secretary of State believes that it has not had regard 
to guidance and regulations. The consultation sets out the evidence that the Secretary 
of State may draw on before deciding to intervene, and makes clear that any direction 
will need to be proportionate. The power proposed in this consultation is intended to 
allow the Secretary of State to act if best practice or regulation is being ignored, which 
will help to ensure that authorities continue to pursue more efficient means of 
investment.

2.21 Draft regulation 8 sets out the process for intervention under the following sections:

 Determining to intervene
 The process of intervention
 Review 

2.22 At the time of writing this report, officers had not completed a response to the 
consultation as, shortly, they are due to meet with other funds to discuss the potential 
effects and implications.  At this stage, there are no particular concerns although the 
Secretary of State’s powers of intervention are a new development. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The Investment Regulations are central to the management of LGPS assets and it is 

important that they are fit for purpose and that the Fund is compliant with them.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 All appropriate options remain under consideration.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 The consultation is being undertaken by DCLG

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The new investment regulations will require officers to undertake additional work in 

order to ensure arrangements at the fund remain appropriate but this should be 
accommodated within existing resources.

 
9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.



11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental issues 

arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members note the report and agree that a response to the consultation is made by 

officers with the approval of the Chair. 

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 It is important that Members are informed of potential changes to the legislative 

framework of the LGPS.

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
HEAD OF PENSION FUND
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES  None

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
Local government pension scheme: investment regulations’ Investment Reform 

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT OF PROPERTY MANAGER 
(OPERATIONAL)

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1     The purpose of this report is to recommend the appointment of CBRE Ltd

in respect of the mandate as Property Manager (Operational) to 
Merseyside Pension Fund.  The mandate is for an initial term of four years 
with the option of a further three, two year extensions.

1.2 The appendix to the report contains exempt information. This is by virtue 
of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972, i.e. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information).

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 In 2011, a contract was let for a Strategic Property Advisor, in respect of 

Merseyside Pension Fund’s property portfolio, which ends on 31 January 
2016. Consequently, a procurement exercise was instigated in the 
summer to retender the contract. The tender exercise was conducted in 
house between the Corporate Procurement Department and Officers of 
the Fund. 

2.2 The criteria for assessment were pre-set at 60% for qualitative and 
technical ability and 40% for price.



2.3 There were 3 completed responses received to the contract notice and 
clarification meetings took place to verify the responses.

2.4   All responses were very credible.  Officers of the Fund, in conjunction with 
the Corporate Procurement Unit, scored all of the received offers and 
ranked submissions using pre-determined criteria on a quantitative basis 
and taking into account fees proposed for the four year term.  Full details 
are set out in the appendix to this report.  

2.5 CBRE Ltd had the highest overall score and was recommended for 
appointment which was undertaken under delegation.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 There are none arising from this report.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report.  

There are no implications for partner organisations arising out of this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 

6.1 N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The financial implications of the contract are set out in the attached 

appendix.

8.2 Full cost of managing multi occupied properties is recovered from the 
tenants and therefore consideration of their interest in selecting a manager 
in terms of cost and level of service was required.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS



10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are none arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members note the appointment of CBRE Ltd in respect of Property 

Manager (Operational)  for a period of four years with the option to extend 
for a further six years, subject to satisfactory biennial reviews.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 The existing contract for Property Manager (Operational) will terminate on 

31 January 2016 and it is essential that the Fund receives appropriate 
management services on its UK property holdings.

REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Wallach
Head of Pension Fund
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Exempt Appendix 1

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


Council Meeting Date

 



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Members approve the treasury 

management policy statement and the treasury management practices and 
annual plan for Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) for the year 2016/17.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice for Treasury Management in Public Services requires Pensions 
Committee to receive an annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued 
in the coming year. The plan and strategy were last approved by the Pensions 
Committee on 19 January 2015.

2.2 The Fund’s cash flows for dealings with members have moved negative with 
outflows to pensioners more than income from contributions. In an environment 
where a significant proportion of investment income is directly re-invested, the 
levels of liquid resources held need to be adequate and daily cashflows and 
regular reporting is essential.

2.3 The policy statement is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.  There are no 
changes to the policy followed for 2015/16.

2.4 Plan and Strategy

 MPF will comply with the twelve treasury management practices set out in the 
treasury management policy statement.

 The Fund will run minimal cash balances to pay pensions and meet other 
obligations.  The core position is 0% of Fund assets following the change to 
the strategic asset allocation approved on 19 November 2013.

 The main aims when managing liquid resources are: the security of capital; 
the liquidity of investments; matching inflows from lending to predicted 
outflows; an optimal return on investments commensurate with proper levels 
of security and liquidity.



 The UK Bank Rate has been maintained at 0.5% since March 2009, and is 
anticipated to remain at low levels throughout 2016/17. Short-term money 
market rates are likely to remain at low levels for an extended period which 
will have an impact on investment income.

 For MPF the achievement of high returns from treasury activity is of 
secondary importance compared with the need to limit exposure of funds to 
the risk of loss.

 The maximum maturity for any single treasury management investment is 1 
year.

 Counterparties are reviewed on a regular basis using a range of information 
sources, including credit rating agencies, internal research (both from the 
treasury team and internal investment managers), information from brokers, 
advice given by the treasury management consultants, information on 
Government support for banks and the credit ratings of that Government 
support. The Fund is in a position to use a wide range of research from its 
investment activities to support this and achieve the aim set on the CIPFA 
guidance to place a greater emphasis on acceptable credit quality rather than 
purely credit ratings for counterparts.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The treasury management policy statement is concerned mainly with the 

mitigation of risks.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 Not relevant for this report.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Not relevant for this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no outstanding previously approved actions.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.



10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?
(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members approve the treasury management policy statement and the 

treasury management annual plan and strategy for Merseyside Pension Fund 
for the financial year 2016/17.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 The approval of the treasury management policy statement and the treasury 

management annual plan and strategy for Merseyside Pension Fund by 
Pensions Committee forms part of the governance arrangements of Merseyside 
Pension Fund.  These arrangements were approved by Pensions Committee 
as part of the Statement of Investment Principles on 19 November 2013.

REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith
Group Accountant
telephone (0151) 2421312
email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
The Treasury Management Policy Statement 2016/17 is attached as appendix 1 to 
this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and Guidance Notes.

SUBJECT HISTORY

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date



SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee – Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy 2013/14

Pensions Committee – Treasury Management Annual 

Report 2012/13

Pensions Committee – Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy 2014/15

Pensions Committee – Treasury Management Annual 

Report 2013/14

Pensions Committee – Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy 2015/16

Pensions Committee – Treasury Management Annual 

Report 2014/15

15 January 2013

24 June 2013

20 January 2014

1 July 2014

19 January 2015

22 June 2015 



Appendix 1 

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Merseyside Pension Fund adopts the key principles of ‘CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice’ (the Code), as 
described in Section 4 of that Code. 

1.2 Accordingly the Fund will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for 
effective treasury management: 

• This treasury management policy statement stating the policies, objectives 
and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities

• Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in 
which this organisation will seek to achieve these policies and objectives, and 
prescribing how it will manage and control these activities.

2 DELEGATION

2.1 Pensions Committee will receive reports on its treasury management policies, 
practices and activities including an annual strategy and plan in advance of 
each financial year and an annual report after its close. The Investment 
Monitoring Working Party (IMWP) will receive interim reports on treasury 
management.

2.2 Pensions Committee is responsible for the implementation and regular 
monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices and will 
delegate execution and administration of treasury management decisions to 
the Head of Pension Fund who will act in accordance with this policy 
statement, TMPs and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury 
Management.

2.3 The IMWP is responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury 
management strategy, policies and performance.

3 DEFINITION

3.1 Treasury management activities are defined as: the management of the 
Fund’s cash flows, its banking, money market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.

3.2 The Fund regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk 
to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on the risk implications for the Fund.



3.3 The Fund acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving best value in treasury 
management and to employing suitable performance measurement 
techniques within the context of effective risk management.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMPs)

4 TMP 1 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 The Head of Pension Fund will design, implement and monitor all 
arrangements for the identification, management and control of treasury 
management risk and will report annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, 
and will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or 
likely difficulty in achieving the Fund’s objectives.

4.2 The Fund regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be 
the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its 
counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations 
with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit its investment activities to 
the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP 4 and listed in 
the schedule (4.1, 4.2) to this document. It also recognises the need to have, 
and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those 
organisations with whom it may enter into financing arrangements.

4.3 The Fund will ensure that it has adequate though not excessive cash 
resources to enable it at all times to have the level of funds available to it, 
which are necessary for the achievement of its business objectives.

4.4 The Fund will manage its exposure to interest rates with a view to securing its 
interest revenue as far as is possible within cash flow constraints and by the 
prudent use of permissible instruments.

4.5 The Fund will achieve these objectives by the prudent use of its approved 
investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability 
and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a 
sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level and structure of interest rates. The above 
are subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any 
policy or budgetary implications.

4.6 It will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise 
any detrimental impact.

4.7 The Fund will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply 
with its statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such 
compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such 
activities. In framing its counterparty list it will ensure that there is evidence of 
counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in respect of the 
transactions they may effect with the organisation, particularly with regard to 
duty of care and fees charged.



4.8 The Fund recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact 
on its treasury management activities and so far as it is reasonably able to do 
so will seek to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the 
organisation.

4.9 The Fund will ensure that it has identified the circumstances, which may 
expose it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other 
eventualities in its treasury management dealings. Accordingly, it will employ 
suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency 
management arrangements, to these ends.

4.10 The Fund will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies 
and objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the 
value of the principal sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself 
from the effects of such fluctuations.

5 TMP 2 Performance Measurement

5.1 The Fund is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury 
management activities. Accordingly the treasury management will be the 
subject of ongoing analysis of the value it adds. It will be the subject of regular 
examinations of alternative methods of service delivery and the scope for 
other potential improvements. The performance of the treasury management 
function will be measured using the criteria set out in the schedule (2.1) to this 
document.

6 TMP 3 Decision Making and analysis

6.1 The Fund will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and 
of the processes and practices applied in reaching these decisions, both for 
the purposes of learning from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable 
steps were taken to ensure that issues relevant to those decisions were taken 
into account at the time. The issues to be addressed and processes and 
practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are detailed in the schedule 
(3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4) to this document.

7 TMP 4 Approved Instruments, methods and techniques

7.1 The Fund will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only 
those instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule (4.1, 4.2) 
to this document.

8 TMP 5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing 
arrangements

8.1 The Fund considers it essential for the purposes of effective control and 
monitoring of its treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk 
of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of optimum performance, that these 
activities are structured and managed in a fully integrated manner and that 
there is at all times clarity of treasury management responsibilities. 



8.2 The principle on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those 
charged with setting treasury management policies and those charged with 
implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the 
execution and transmission of funds, the recording and administering of 
treasury management decisions, and the audit and review of the treasury 
management function.

8.3 If and when the Fund intends, as a result of a lack of resources or other 
circumstances to depart from these principles, the “responsible officer” will 
ensure that the reasons are properly reported and the implications properly 
considered and evaluated.

8.4 The Head of Pension Fund is the responsible officer. The responsible officer 
shall ensure that there are clear written statements of the responsibilities for 
each post engaged in treasury management and the arrangements for 
absence cover. The responsible officer will also ensure that at all times those 
engaged in treasury management will follow the policies and procedures set 
out. The present arrangements are detailed in the schedule 5 to this 
document.

8.5 The responsible officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals 
and transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of 
funds.

8.6 The delegations to the responsible officer in respect of treasury management 
are set out in the schedule (5) to this document. The responsible officer will 
fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with this policy statement and 
TMPs and the CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury 
Management.

9 TMP 6 Reporting Requirements and Management Information Requirements

9.1 The Fund will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its treasury management policies; on the effects of 
decisions taken and transactions executed in pursuit of these policies; on the 
implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from regulatory, 
economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury management 
activities; and on the performance of the treasury management function.

9.2 Pensions Committee will receive an annual report on the strategy and plan to 
be pursued in the coming year.

9.3 An annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, 
on the effects of the decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past 
year, and on any circumstances of non-compliance with the Fund’s treasury 
management policy statement and TMPs, will be received by the Pensions 
Committee.

9.4 The IMWP will receive interim reports on treasury management.



10 TMP 7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements

10.1 The budget for the treasury management function will be included as part of 
the budget for the Fund which is submitted to Pensions Committee on an 
annual basis.

10.2 The Fund will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions 
made and transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting 
practices and standards, and with statutory and regulatory requirements in 
force for the time being.

11 TMP 8 Cash and cash flow management

11.1 All monies in the hands of the Fund will be under the control of the Head of 
Pension Fund and will be aggregated for cash flow and investment purposes. 
Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the 
responsible officer will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of 
monitoring compliance with liquidity risk management. The present 
arrangements for preparing cash flow projections are set out in the schedule 
(8.1, 8.2) to this document.

12 TMP 9 Money Laundering

12.1 The Fund is alert to the possibility that it may become subject of an attempt to 
involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money. Accordingly it will 
maintain procedures for verifying and recording the identity of Counterparties 
and will ensure that staff involved in this are properly trained.

13 TMP 10 Training and Qualifications

13.1 The Fund recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the 
treasury management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals 
who are both capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to 
enable them to acquire and maintain an appropriate level of expertise, 
knowledge and skills. The responsible officer shall recommend and 
implement the necessary arrangements.  The present arrangements are set 
out in the schedule (5.6) to this document.

13.2 The responsible officer shall ensure that Pension Committee Members tasked 
with Pension Fund responsibilities have access to training relevant to their 
needs and responsibilities.

14 TMP 11 Use of external service providers

14.1 The Fund recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the Fund at all times. The Fund recognises there may be 
potential value of employing external providers of treasury management 
services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. When it 
employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons, which 
will have been subjected to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits. It will 



also ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.

14.2 The Fund will ensure, where feasible and necessary that a spread of service 
providers is used, to avoid over reliance on one or a small number of 
companies. Where services are subject to formal tender or re-tender 
arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed. The 
monitoring of such arrangements rests with the Head of Pension Fund. 
Details of the current arrangements are set out in the schedule (9.1, 9.2) to 
this document.

15 TMP 12 Corporate Governance

15.1 The Fund is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance 
throughout its businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and 
practices by which this can be achieved. Accordingly the treasury 
management function and its activities will be undertaken with openness and 
transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

15.2 The Fund has adopted and has implemented the key principles of the Code. 
This, together with the other arrangements detailed in the schedule to this 
document, are considered vital to the achievement of proper corporate 
governance in treasury management and the responsible officer shall monitor 
and, if and when necessary, report upon the effectiveness of these 
arrangements.



MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND:

SCHEDULE TO TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY

SCHEDULE 1:
RISK MANAGEMENT

1.1 The Fund has the following range of approved maximum limits for 
counterparties subject to meeting the high credit criteria determined by the 
Fund

CATEGORY LIMIT
Per Institution/Group

Fund’s Bank £50m
Approved Bank £20m
Approved Building Societies £15m
All Local Authorities No limit
Money Market Funds £30m
with a Constant Net Asset value 

Fund’s Custodian (Money Market Fund) £100m*
(Internal and External Managers guideline) 
Fund’s Custodian (Money Market Fund) £50m 

*Funds deposited with the Custodian do not form part of the Treasury Management 
team’s decision-making, but represent cash with fund managers awaiting investment 
or cash collateral. Cash left by internal and external managers is subject to their 
market calls. Subject to the restrictions within their individual Investment 
Management Agreements, the aggregate of their deposits could potentially exceed 
the £100m guideline in certain situations. The cash with the custodian is held within 
a money market fund and the risk of default is diversified across a wide number of 
names.

At the time of placing a deposit, a maximum country limit of 10% of the cash portfolio 
in any single jurisdiction outside the UK will be maintained. 

1.2 Under exceptional circumstances e.g. transitional arrangements on 
appointment of new Investment Managers, these limits may be exceeded for 
a limited period with the prior written approval of the Head of Pension Fund 
and Fund Operating Group (FOG). Such instances will be reported to the 
following meeting of the IMWP.

1.3 The Fund and the administering Authority (Wirral Council) and its advisors, 
Arlingclose Ltd, select financial institutions after analysis and ongoing 
monitoring of:



 Published credit ratings for financial institutions (minimum long term rating 
of A- or equivalent for counterparties; AA+ or equivalent for non-UK 
sovereigns

 Credit Default Swaps (where quoted)

 Economic fundamentals (for example Net Debt as a percentage of GDP)

 Sovereign support mechanisms

 Share Prices

 Corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and 
momentum

 Subjective overlay – or, put more simply, common sense.

 Any institution can be suspended or removed should any of the factors 
identified above give rise to concern.

1.4 It remains the Fund’s policy to make exceptions to counterparty policy 
established around credit ratings, but this is conditional and directional. What 
this means is that an institution that meets criteria may be suspended, but 
institutions not meeting criteria will not be added.

1.5 The Fund is in a position to use a wide range of research from its investment 
activities to support this and achieve the aim set on the CIPFA guidance to 
place a greater emphasis on acceptable credit quality rather than purely credit 
ratings for counterparts

1.6 The Fund requires liquid resources to meet pension payments, investment 
commitments and administrative expenses. The cash flows from realisation 
and purchase of investments can be large and concentrated and the Fund 
needs to maintain facilities and resources to meet these. On days when there 
is a significant transition of assets between asset managers, appropriate 
arrangements are made with the Fund’s bankers regarding the timings of the 
receipt and payments of cash flows (day light exposure).

1.7 The Fund’s cash flows for dealing with members is negative with outflows to 
pensioners more than income from contributions. In an environment where a 
significant proportion of investment income is directly re-invested, the levels 
of liquid resources held need to be adequate and daily cashflows and regular 
reporting is essential.

1.8 It will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates. In general, the 
Fund will only hold foreign currencies to fund pending investment transactions 
thus limiting the exposure of treasury management activities to fluctuations in 
exchange rates so as to minimise any detrimental impact. 

SCHEDULE 2:



PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

2.1 The performance of the Fund’s investments is independently measured by 
WM Company. The performance of cash is included as part of this process 
and is benchmarked against an appropriate inter-bank rate. This performance 
measurement is subject to scrutiny by Pensions Committee and IMWP. 

2.2 The costs of investment management generally including treasury 
management expenses are separately accounted for in the Annual Statement 
of Accounts. Comparisons are made between internal and external fund 
management costs.

SCHEDULE 3:
DECISION MAKING AND ANALYSIS

3.1 Decision-making is delegated as indicated in the management arrangements 
set out in schedule 5. Day to day decisions are constrained by the risk 
controls set out in the other schedules such as approved instruments and 
counterparties etc.

3.2 Tactical decision making by officers will seek to use information from brokers 
to meet cash flows whilst gaining maximum return within risk constraints. 
Officers will have access to up to date market information.

3.3 Strategic decision making by officers and members will seek to set in place a 
plan that meets the needs of the Pension Fund in relation to its overall 
investment plan. The external advisers to the Fund (actuary and independent 
advisers) will help to ensure that decisions are well informed. 

3.4 A risk assessment form will be completed for each treasury management 
transaction (excluding cash at bank), detailing the circumstances at the time 
the decision is made and providing evidence of the issues considered. 

SCHEDULE 4:
APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

4.1 The Fund will use the following instruments for its internally managed treasury 
management activities. The Fund does not use derivatives for risk control 
associated with the treasury management function but may hold derivatives 
for risk control within the overall portfolio and as investments (these may be 
held by internal and external managers)

• AAA rated money market funds with a constant Net Asset Value
• Call funds
• Fixed term deposits with counterparties
• Forward Fixed term deposits with counterparties
• Structured Fixed term deposits with counterparties (See Note 1)
• Cash at bank (Lloyds)



Note 1: these are effectively deposits which give MPF or deposit taker the option to 
cancel agreement or renegotiate duration/interest rate of the deposit at fixed periods 
agreed at commencement of the deposit. These products allow the internal team the 
opportunity to gain additional yield if their view on interest rates is correct, as the 
counterparty will have a contrarian view on either the direction or speed of interest 
rate changes.

4.2 The Fund will permit external fund managers to use all instruments permitted 
under the Investment Manager Agreement.

SCHEDULE 5:
ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
DEALING ARRANGEMENTS

5.1 The structure for the treasury management functions is as follows:

Pensions Committee
Oversees all aspects of Merseyside Pension Fund on behalf of Wirral Council 
and the other admitted bodies. Reviews investment strategy and overall 
administration of the Fund.

Investment Monitoring Working Party (IMWP)
Makes recommendations to Pensions Committee following consultation with 
in-house managers and external advisers.

Head of Pension Fund
Responsibilities as set out in twelve Treasury Management Practices.

Fund Operating Group (FOG)
Includes reviewing the day to day operation of the investments and 
accountancy function.

Group Accountant 
Responsible for team that undertakes treasury management activities.

5.2 The day to day transactions for treasury management are executed by the 
treasury management team overseen by the Fund Accountant (Compliance).

5.3 The transmission of funds is carried out by the settlements team through 
electronic banking system and the recording of transactions is monitored by 
the Fund Accountant (Operations) ensuring an adequate separation of duties 
in the system.

5.4 The physical authorisation of the release of payments from the bank account 
is made by the Fund’s authorised signatories as approved by Pensions 
Committee.

5.5 There are sufficient staff employed in the process to cover absences and 
maintain a separation of duties; the duties of staff are outlined in their job 
descriptions.



5.6 Staff currently involved in the system have an adequate level of relevant 
qualifications. Further training, as required, is made available as part of 
ongoing staff development:

Head of Pension Fund FCSI, ACIB
Group Accountant CPFA
Fund Accountant (Compliance) AAT
Fund Accountant (Operations) CIMA
Senior Settlements Officer AAT
Compliance & Valuations Officer AAT
Investment Assistant Chartered MCSI

5.7 Dealing arrangements will be detailed within application forms (where 
applicable) and approved by an authorised signatory.

5.8 The Fund’s policy is not to tape treasury management conversations, 
although faxed or emailed confirmation is required of the deal from the broker 
or directly from the counterparty (excluding deposits into call accounts) before 
the payment is released.

5.9 Treasury management facilities are set up with the approval of at least one of 
the Fund’s authorised signatories.

5.10 Treasury management facilities provided on the internet will be agreed with 
the Head of Pension Fund and will be scrutinised by the Compliance Section 
to ensure all necessary controls are in place.

SCHEDULE 6:
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

6.1 The Fund will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its treasury management policies; on the effects of 
decisions taken and transactions executed in pursuit of these policies; on the 
implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from regulatory, 
economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury management 
activities; and on the performance of the treasury management function.

6.2 Pensions Committee will receive an annual report on the strategy and plan to 
be pursued in the coming year.

6.3 An annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, 
on the effects of the decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past 
year, and on any circumstances of non-compliance with the Fund’s treasury 
management policy statement and TMPs, will be received by the Pensions 
Committee.

6.4 The IMWP will receive interim reports on treasury management.

SCHEDULE 7:
BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS



7.1 The Fund will ensure that its auditors and those charged with regulatory 
review have access to all information and papers supporting the activities of 
the treasury management function as are necessary for the proper fulfillment 
of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate compliance 
with external and internal policies and approved practices. The information 
made available under present arrangements is detailed in the schedule (10.1) 
to this document.

SCHEDULE 8:
CASH FLOW

8.1 Given the unpredictable nature of cash flows in investment management and 
in the payment of lump sum benefits, the Fund is not able to forecast cash 
flows precisely. The Fund has designed its cash portfolio to meet the principal 
material predictable cash flows i.e. pension pay days, and retains a sufficient 
level of liquidity to cover other calls on cash.

8.2 The investments office maintains cash flow statements on a monthly basis 
updated daily for predictable cash flows and uses this as a tool to assist the 
treasury management function.

SCHEDULE 9:
USE OF EXTERNAL PROVIDERS

9.1 The main providers of services to the Fund are money market brokers. As the 
Fund does not borrow funds it does not pay commission to the brokers. The 
performance of brokers is under regular review by staff.

9.2 The Fund’s main clearing bank contract is the subject of regular tendering 
exercises.

SCHEDULE 10:
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE

10.1 The Fund is administered by Wirral Council and is subject to its corporate 
governance arrangements including regular internal audit and annual external 
audit. The treasury management function is examined by both of these audits 
regularly as a high priority area. Officers shall ensure that all documentation 
listed below is made available to auditors:

• Internal policies
• Internal records of deals
• Counterparty confirmations



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: LGC INVESTMENT CONFERENCE
WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 

TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES
KEY DECISION NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report requests nominations for members to attend the Local Government 

Chronicle (LGC) Investment Conference, to be held in Chester from 3 to 4 March 2016.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The conference is themed “2016: be prepared for the year of change” and addresses 

topical issues such as the government’s efficiency challenge, the next actuarial 
valuation, governance & accountability as well as involving a number of investment 
workshops.  The draft agenda is attached at appendix 1.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 There are none arising from this report.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report.  There are no 

implications for partner organisations arising from this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 

6.1 N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 A free place is available as MPF was represented at the LGC Investment Summit.  

Additional places plus a night’s accommodation will be £445 per delegate (excluding 
travel), which can be met from the existing Pension Fund budget.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 



9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental issues 

arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That attendance at the conference by Members be approved.

13.2 That Members wishing to attend the conference notify the Head of Pension Fund to 
enable the necessary registration and administration to be undertaken.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 Attendance at this conference is a part of the development programme approved by 

Members in January 2016 and will assist Members in fulfilling the Committee’s 
Knowledge and Skills objectives as set out by CIPFA.

.

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
HEAD OF PENSION FUND
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 Draft agenda

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee
Pensions Committee
Pensions Committee

November 2014
November 2013
November 2012



APPENDIX 1

Carden Park Hotel, near Chester: 3-4 March 2016

“2016: be prepared for the year of change”
Thursday 3 March

Session Title Presenters

9:15 – 9:45 Coffee and registration

9:45 Chairman’s welcome Chris Bilsland, 
Adviser to the LGPS 
Advisory Board and 
NED, the London CIV 
Ltd

9.55 – 10:55
Plenary 1

1 hour 

The Government’s Efficiency Challenge and Other 
Emerging Issues 

We hear from leading and influential members of the 
LGPS Advisory Board on progress on the 
Government’s Challenge on Efficiency and other 
important emerging issues which are likely to affect 
the shape of the LGPS.

Jeff Houston, 
Secretary to the 
LGPS Advisory Board

10:55 – 11:40 Strategic Asset Allocation
With so much change in the air, what changes are 
being made by Funds in their asset allocation and 
what are the key drivers for change?

Chris Buss, Chair 
of the London CIV 
Investment Advisory 
Committee

11:40 – 12:10 Refreshments



12:10 – 13:05
Workshops led 
by our sponsors

A B C 

13:05 – 14:15 Lunch

14:15 – 15:00
Plenary 2

Governance and Accountability
With LGPS funds so much in the spotlight, the need 
for the highest standards in both investment and 
management has never been higher. What shape are 
the Funds in and what are the key causes for 
concern?

Duncan Whitfield 
President, the 
Association of Local 
Authority Treasurers
Speaker from CIPFA

15:00 – 15:30 Refreshments

15:30 – 16:15
Plenary 3

Session to be confirmed

16:20 – 17:15
Workshops led 
by our sponsors

D E F 

19:00 Drinks reception 
19:30 Dinner

Friday 4 March 

8:45 - 9:15 Refreshments

9:15 – 10:15
Plenary 4

Pooling and Collaboration
What the current and prospective ways in which 
Funds are seeking to work together to deliver savings 
and optimise investment returns? We hear from some 
of the leading practitioners. 

Hugh Grover Chief 
Executive, London 
CIV Ltd
George Graham 
Investment Director, 
Lancashire CC 
Pension Fund

10:15 – 10:40 Session to be confirmed



10:45 – 11:40
Workshops led 
by our sponsors 

G H I 

11:40 – 12:10 Refreshments

12:10 – 13:00
Plenary 5

The 2016 Valuation
What is likely to be the result of the 2016 Valuation? 
Will there be demonstrable progress on deficit 
reduction and can stability in the cost to members be 
maintained? In this session we look to answer these 
questions and consider the potential impacts.

Fiona Miller, Head of 
Pensions & Financial 
Services, Cumbria 
County Council

13:00 Closing remarks Chris Bilsland

Lunch

© 2015. This programme may change due to unforeseen circumstances.  EMAP reserves the right to alter the 
venue and/or speakers.  



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: ELECTED MEMBER EDUCATIONAL EVENT
WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 

TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES
KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report recommends that the Committee considers attendance by Members at the 

330 Consulting Elected Member Educational Event (EMEE) in the Palace of 
Westminster in London on Wednesday 17 February 2016.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The event is designed for those members of Pensions Committees who are relatively 

new to their roles, but it is also open to other, more experienced, Committee members 
who would like a refresher on some key investment concepts and issues.

The intention is that attendees can benefit from presentations on investment topics that 
do not assume a detailed understanding of the investment world, and yet which provide 
a good grounding on each topic to help attendees in their duties back in the real world.

2.2 To help keep the day interesting, and not make it too focussed in investment topics, the 
EMEE will again be a mixture of educational investment sessions and politically-themed 
presentations.  The topics to be covered are:

 Some thoughts on what makes an effective investment strategy for LGPS Funds

 The future of Credit investing

 The reality of investing in Emerging Market equities

 The role of ESG factors in the investment decision-making process

 Investment styles and their place in portfolio management
       

In addition to the investment content, attendees will also hear some politically-themed 
sessions from the Chief Executive of Big Brother Watch, Renate Samson (on the topic 
of 'The Politics of Privacy'), Dr Eunice Goes, Associate Professor of Politics at 
Richmond University ('The Pros and Cons of a Brexit'), and Lord Andrew Adonis, Chair 
of the National Infrastructure Commission ('The Future of Infrastructure in the UK').

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 There are none arising from this report.



4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report.  There are no 

implications for partner organisations arising from this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 

6.1 N/A.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS  
7.1 There are none arising from this report

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS
8.1 Attendance is free.  There will be travel costs to London and overnight accommodation 

may be required for the night of 16 February. 

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental issues 
arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Committee considers if it wishes to send a delegation to attend this event and, if 

so, to determine the number and allocation of places.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1 Attendance at this conference is a part of the development programme approved by 
Members in January 2016 and will assist Members in fulfilling the Committee’s 
Knowledge and Skills objectives as set out by CIPFA.

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
HEAD OF PENSION FUND
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date





WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: LGPS – LOCAL INVESTMENT  

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR TRANSFORMATION 

& RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report informs Members of arrangements in place at MPF in respect of local 

investment and seeks approval for the approach proposed by officers.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 Since MPF was constituted in 1987, the Fund has not had an explicit allocation to 

investments in the local area.  Notwithstanding this, over this period, the Fund has 
invested substantial amounts in the region as commercially viable opportunities have 
arisen and over £50m remains at work.  In addition, MPF has acted as a facilitator in 
identifying and introducing potential funders for projects.

2.2 In 2014, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority was established and, more 
recently, the city region’s proposals for devolution were agreed with government.  It is 
felt that the opportunity to coordinate projects in the Merseyside area will provide a 
greater likelihood of investable opportunities.  Economic growth is creating demand for 
housing, retail and leisure facilities and there is potential for developments to be 
undertaken to meet these demands.  In combination with this, the Chancellor is keen for 
local government pension funds to develop improved capacity and capability to invest in 
infrastructure through pooling assets with other funds.  Pooling with other LGPS funds 
may provide further resource and expertise in the fulness of time.

2.3 The fund is not proposing to change its criteria for the assessment of potential 
investments but is looking to seek suitable opportunities more actively while having 
regard to the management of risk.  Appropriate governance will ensure that potential 
conflicts of interest are identified and managed.  Diversification is essential to avoid 
undue concentration in any one sector or geographical area.  

2.4 The fund believes there is scope for further investment in the region particularly if 
undertaken in conjunction with other partners and investors (including other LGPS 
funds) and has taken steps to ensure that the necessary external advice and resource 
is available to it.  It is recognized that investments of this type are more resource-



intensive in terms of management and the knowledge requirement.  Scale is required to 
bear the due diligence, legal, administrative and other management costs.

Fiduciary Responsibilities

Members have been informed previously of clarification their fiduciary responsibilities 
obtained by the LGA:

a) In managing a LGPS fund, the administering authority has both fiduciary duties and 
public law duties (which are in practice likely to come to much the same thing). 

b) The administering authority’s power of investment must be exercised for 
investment purposes, and not for any wider purposes. Investment decisions must 
therefore be directed towards achieving a wide variety of suitable investments, and 
to what is best for the financial position of the fund (balancing risk and return in the 
normal way). 

c) However, so long as that remains true, the precise choice of investment may be 
influenced by wider social, ethical or environmental considerations, so long as that 
does not risk material financial detriment to the fund. In taking account of any such 
considerations, the administering authority may not prefer its own particular 
interests to those of other scheme employers, and should not seek to impose its 
particular views where those would not be widely shared by scheme employers 
and members (nor may other scheme employers impose their views upon the 
administering authority).

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Regional investments bring greater potential for conflicts of interest which must be 

managed appropriately through suitable governance arrangements.  

3.2 It is important that all the Fund’s investments are subject to rigorous assessment and 
suitably diversified. 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 There are no other options under consideration.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 N/A

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 It is recognised that regional investments tend to be more resource-intensive than 

conventional investment practice, in terms of management and the knowledge 



requirement.  This will be factored in to the assessment of opportunities.  Appropriate 
staffing resource is being put in place along with external advice.

 
9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental issues 

arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members note the report and approve the intention to undertake regional 

investments consistent with the Fund’s investment criteria.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 Devolution and the City Region are expected to enable suitable investments to be 

identified and coordinated.

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
HEAD OF PENSION FUND
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES  None

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
Local Government Pension Scheme: Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Pension Committee

Pension Committee

November 2015

September 2015



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
25TH JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF INVESTMENT MONITORING 
WORKING PARTY MEETING

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 

TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES
KEY DECISION?  (Defined in 
paragraph 13.3 of Article 13 
‘Decision Making’ in the Council’s 
Constitution.)

No

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with the minutes of the 

Investment Monitoring Working Party held on 10th December 2015. 

1.2 The appendix to this report contains exempt information. This is by virtue of 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of Local Government Act 1972 i.e. 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The IMWP meets six times a year to enable Members and their advisers to 

consider investment matters relating to Merseyside Pension Fund in greater 
detail. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 There are none arising from this report.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
6.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation planned or undertaken for this report. There 

are no implications for partner organisations arising from this report.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
6.1 There are none arising from this report.



7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
8.1 There are none arising from this report.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b)  no, because there is no relevance to equality.

10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
10.1 There are none arising from this report.

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 There are none arising from this report.

12.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
11.1 That Members approve the Minutes of the IMWP meeting which are attached 

as an appendix to this report.

13.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
13.1 The approval of IMWP minutes by Pensions Committee forms part of the 

governance arrangements of Merseyside Pension Fund. These arrangements 
were approved by Pensions Committee as part of the Fund’s Governance 
Statement at its meeting on 27th June 2011.

REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Wallach
Head of Merseyside Pension Fund
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Exempt appendix

REFERENCE MATERIAL

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


None.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Minutes of all IMWP meetings are brought to the 
subsequent Pensions Committee meeting.



Minutes of Investment Monitoring Working Party, 10th December 2015

In attendance:

Councillor Paul Doughty (WBC) Peter Wallach (Head of MPF)

Councillor Geoffrey Watt (WBC) Joe Blott (Strategic Director Transformation 
and Resources)

Councillor Adrian Jones (WBC) Linda Desforges (Investment Manager)
Councillor Cherry Povall (WBC) Greg Campbell (Investment Manager)

Councillor Brian Kenny (WBC) Allister Goulding (Investment Manager)

Councillor Pat Cleary (WBC) Owen Thorne (Investment Officer)

Councillor Paulette Lappin (SBC) Noel Mills (Independent Advisor)

David Lyons (AON Hewitt) Rohan Worrall (Independent Advisor)

Emma Jones (PA to Head of Pension 
Fund)

Apologies were received from:

Councillor Ann McLachlan (WBC) 
(Vice Chair)

Councillor Treena Johnson (WBC)

Councillor George Davies (WBC)

Declarations of interest

Councillor Geoffrey Watt and Councillor Paulette Lappin declared an interest in 
Merseyside Pension Fund.



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

25 JANUARY 2016

SUBJECT: PROPRTY PORTFOLIO RENT ARREARS
AND WRITE OFFS

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Members agree to the write off of 

£165,930.31 of unrecoverable rent arrears from the Fund’s property portfolio.

1.2 Appendix 1 to the report, (A report from CBRE detailing property rent arrears), 
contains exempt information. This is by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information).

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 As Members will be aware, CBRE are the managing agents for the Fund’s 

property portfolio. Amongst other functions, they have responsibility for the 
collection of rent and management of arrears. On an annual basis they 
produce a report on uncollectable arrears which is attached as an appendix to 
this report.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Not relevant for this report.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 CBRE considers a number of actions for the recovery of rental arrears before 

any write off is recommended.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Not relevant for this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.



7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The total amount recommended for write off in this report is £165,930.31.  

The estimated annual property rental income for 2015/16 as at 30 September 
2015 is £21m.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Pensions Committee approves the write-off of uncollectable property 

rental income of £165,930.31.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 CBRE considers these rental arrears to be irrecoverable. The approval of the 

write off of irrecoverable rent arrears by Pensions Committee forms part of 
the governance arrangements of Merseyside Pension Fund.

REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith
Group Accountant
telephone (0151) 2421312
email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
The report from CBRE is attached as an exempt appendix to this report.



BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
No reference material used in the production of this report.

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee:

Property portfolio rent arrears and write offs
Property portfolio rent arrears and write offs
Property portfolio rent arrears and write offs

19 January 2015
20 January 2014
15 January 2013
























	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 LGPS UPDATE
	4 POOLING CONSULTATION
	5 PENSION FUND BUDGET
	6 MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2016
	7 LGPS INVESTMENT REGULATIONS
	8 PROPERTY MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
	9 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
	10 LGC INVESTMENT CONFERENCE
	11 ELECTED MEMBER EDUCATIONAL EVENT
	12 LOCAL INVESTMENT
	13 IMWP MINUTES 10/12/15
	14 PROPERTY ARREARS
	16 IMWP EXEMPT MINUTES 10/12/15
	17 PROPERTY ARREARS EXEMPT APPENDIX
	18 MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND - HEAD OF SERVICE PAY AND GRADING EXEMPT REPORT AND APPENDICES
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


